RECEIVED

Sep 16 2020

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
THE HONORABLE ROGER M. YOUNG, SR.

Appellate Case No.: 2020-000232

Charleston Laboratories, Inc.,
Appellant,

vs.

Womble, Carlyle, Sandridge & Rice, LLP,
Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BLAND RICHTER, LLP
Ronald L. Richter, Jr. (SC Bar No. 66377)
Scott M. Mongillo (SC Bar No. 16574)
Peoples Building
18 Broad Street, Mezzanine
Charleston, South Carolina 29401
843.573.9900 (telephone)
843.573.0200 (facsimile)
ronnie@blandrichter.com
scott@blandrichter.com

Eric S. Bland (SC Bar No. 64132)
1500 Calhoun Street
Post Office Box 72

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT AGAINST A CLIENT IN A LEGAL MALPRACTICE ACTION BASED ON THE EXPIRATION OF THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS BY FINDING THAT THE CLIENT SHOULD HAVE KNOWN THAT HIS ATTORNEY HAD COMMITTED ERRORS IN THE EXECUTION OF AN OPTION TO REPURCHASE SHARES OF A CORPORATION EVEN THOUGH THE ATTORNEY CONTINUED TO REPRESENT THE CLIENT THROUGHOUT THE LIMITATIONS PERIOD, NEVER DISCLOSED AN ERROR AND MAINTAINED THROUGHOUT THE LIMITATIONS PERIOD AND TO THIS DAY THAT NO ERROR HAD BEEN COMMITTED IN THE STOCK REPURCHASE?

WHEN DID CHARLESTON LABS SUFFER COGNIZABLE LEGAL DAMAGES SO AS TO CREATE A CAUSE OF ACTION FOR LEGAL MALPRACTICE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

“What do you people not understand about a scintilla of evidence?” Whether true or not, local legend attributes this observation to the Honorable Roger M. Young, Sr., as a caution to attorneys regarding the standards applicable to a motion for summary judgment. When Womble, Carlyle, Sandridge & Rice, LLP (hereinafter “Womble” or “Respondent”) sought summary judgment in this legal malpractice action based on the statute of limitations, Judge Young reviewed the many thousands of pages submitted in the record, the extensive briefing of the parties and the hours of oral argument before ruling correctly that “there is a genuine issue of material fact as to when the Plaintiff knew or should have known they were on notice of a potential claim by Dr. T that was caused by the Defendant’s representation.” Order Denying Summary Judgment, October 22, 2019, (ROA p. 2).

Following additional briefing, Judge Young reversed himself based on the exact same evidentiary record and did so on the eve of a jury trial. In doing so, the Court did not find that the client knew it had claims against its legal counsel for a period greater than the statute of limitations,

but found that based on two communications which occurred over a span of years in a very complex commercial transaction and which were part of the original record before the Court, the communications “should have put Charleston Labs on notice, that there was a possibility of a claim against Womble.” Order Granting Defendant’s Motion to Reconsider Motion Denying Summary Judgment, January 30, 2020, (ROA p. 6). What could better demonstrate a scintilla of evidence that Charleston Laboratories, Inc. (hereinafter “Charleston Labs” or “Appellant”) should **not** have known that it had potential claims against its legal counsel than the reasoned order of the trial judge himself? This is not simply a situation in which two reasonable people disagree. This is the unique situation in which a very reasonable person having reviewed the same evidence twice arrived at two opposite results. This alone demonstrates that summary judgment is improper in that the Plaintiff is entitled to the benefit of the facts and inferences which resulted in the outcome which was favorable to the Plaintiff.

This is a legal malpractice case in which Charleston Labs contends that it was forced to engage in expensive litigation in order to clarify the ownership structure of its company as a direct result of errors committed by Womble in the drafting of a Shareholder’s Agreement (“SHA”) and a Stock Redemption Agreement (“SRA”) which pertained to the ownership of shares in the company by its former employee / shareholder, Dr. Raymond Takigiku (“Dr. T”), and more importantly in the negligent advice of Womble surrounding the redemption of Dr. T’s stock upon his departure from the company. The Complaint is factually rich and supported in part by the affidavit of expert witness, Dr. Greg Adams. The summary judgment record before the Court consisted of thousands of pages of exhibits, hundreds of pages of deposition testimony, extensive power point presentations and voluminous briefing. Oral arguments lasted for several hours.

Charleston Labs appeals the decision of the trial court in holding ultimately that two communications out of the thousands of pages in the record somehow placed Charleston Labs on notice of potential claims against its legal counsel and did so despite the fact that Womble was in an ongoing attorney / client relationship with Charleston Labs, that Womble never advised its client of its potential errors and that other communications from Womble assured their client that, in fact, no errors were committed. The holding of the lower court quite literally conferred upon the client the knowledge and sophistication of its legal counsel and ignored the duty of candor owed by attorneys to their clients.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

On appeal from an order granting judgment on the pleadings, the appellate court applies the same standard of review applied by the circuit court. *Hambrick v. GMAC Mortgage Company*, 370 S.C. 118, 634 S.E.2d 35 (Ct. App. 2006). As a result, the appellate court reviews the trial court's order by construing all evidence and facts in favor of the non-moving party. *Waters v. Southern Farm Bureau Life Ins.*, 365 S.C. 519, 687 S.E.2d 385 (Ct. App. 2005). "Even if there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions to be drawn from them, summary judgment is improper." *Id.* "Summary judgment is a **drastic remedy**, which should be cautiously invoked so that no person will be improperly deprived of a trial of the disputed factual issues." *Doe v. Batson*, 345 S.C. 316, 321-22, 548 S.E.2d 854, 857 (Ct. App. 2001) (citing *Baughman v. American Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 306 S.C. 101, 112, 410 S.E.2d 537, 543 (1991)). Summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Montgomery v. CXS Transp., Inc.*, 376 S.C. 37, 47, 656 S.E.2d 20, 25 (2008). In determining whether a genuine issue of fact exists; a court must assume as true the evidence of the nonmoving party and **draw all reasonable inferences in favor of that party.** *Id.*

In cases where the applicable burden of proof is preponderance of the evidence, "the non-moving party is only required to submit **a mere scintilla of evidence in order to withstand a motion for summary judgment.**" *Hancock v. Mid-South Mgt. Co., Inc.*, 381 S.C. 326, 330-1, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009). (Emphasis supplied).

STATEMENT OF FACTS^{1,2}

Charleston Labs is entitled to the following facts and all reasonable inferences to be drawn therefrom in finding that a) it did not appreciate that its legal counsel committed professional errors in assisting Charleston Labs to repurchase the shares of a departing shareholder in March, 2010, and b) Charleston Labs should not have known about its counsel's errors until it engaged new counsel following the return of its long-since departed shareholder who was asserting rights as a shareholder:

- a. Charleston Labs engaged Womble as its legal counsel on June 6, 2007, for the purpose of providing "general corporate legal advice, venture capital financing, and other matters that [it] may request from time to time." Womble Engagement Letter, (ROA p. 3044).
- b. Dean Rutley ("Rutley"), a partner at Womble, formed Charleston Labs as a privately-held Delaware corporation on June 27, 2007. Charleston Labs was

¹ Further, because this matter was decided on a motion for judgment on the pleadings, the facts alleged in the complaint are assumed to be true. *Home Builders Association of South Carolina v. School District No. 2 of Dorchester County*, 405 S.C. 458, 748 S.E.2d 230 (2013).

² If a "fact" below is expressly disputed by the defense, effort has been made to flag the fact as "DISPUTED" and to explain the nature of the dispute. Charleston Labs maintains, nonetheless, that it is entitled to its version of the facts and references to be derived therefrom which are beneficial to Charleston Labs' position.

authorized to issue up to 3000 common shares of stock at a par value of \$0.001. Delaware Certificate of Incorporation, (ROA p. 3048).

- c. The three original founders of Charleston Labs were G. Paul Bosse III (“Bosse”), Ryan Baker (“Baker”), and Chris Goodwin (“Goodwin”). (ROA p. 12).
- d. At the time of the formation of Charleston Labs, Womble prepared no agreement that controlled the relationship between the owners. Deposition of George Scott,³ Charleston Labs 30(b)(6), (ROA p. 1201, lines 8-12). (**NOTE:** Womble drafted By-laws, but did not prepare or recommend a shareholder’s agreement or other similar document to control the relationship between the owners of the company).
- e. As a start-up pharmaceutical company, Charleston Labs’ initial research was dedicated to the development of drugs which reduce opioid induced nausea and vomiting in opioid pharmaceuticals. (ROA p. 12, ¶ 6).
- f. Rutley focused his early efforts with Charleston Labs on seeking venture capital for the upstart company in order to fund the launch of its developmental CL-108 analgesic opioid drug. Rutley had previously assisted “dozens and dozens of clients on venture capital transactions” which ranged from “\$500,000.00 to 20 million, 30 million.” Deposition of Dean Rutley, (ROA p. 96, line 22-p. 97, line 7).
- g. Rutley prepared for distribution to his venture capital contacts a “Charleston Laboratories Executive Summary” that lauded Charleston Labs’ leadership team and which forecasted that upon FDA approval of its CL-108 drug, Charleston Labs’ projected revenues would range from \$600,000,000.00 in Year 1 to

³ Prior to his role as in-house counsel for Charleston Labs, attorney George Scott was employed as an associate attorney with Womble. It was in this role that he was first introduced to Charleston Labs and Paul Bosse. Following his employment with Womble, Scott was briefly employed with Greenberg Traurig before accepting his current post as in-house counsel to Charleston Labs.

\$1,209,000,000.00 in Year 5. December 10, 2007, email with attached Executive Summary, (ROA p. 3049).

- h. As Charleston Labs continued in its efforts to develop CL-108, it hired three new employees in 2008, each of whom was promised an ownership interest in the Company: Dr. T., Bernard Schachtel (“Schachtel”) and John Ameling (“Ameling”). (ROA p. 12, ¶12).
- i. **DISPUTED:** Bosse was resistant to Rutley’s early efforts to continue to attempt to raise capital through venture financing because he did not want to saddle his fledgling company with debt and/or to give up a great deal of early equity. When Bosse pushed back against Rutley’s efforts to obtain venture capital, Bosse perceived that he and Charleston Labs were “passed off” from Rutley to attorney David Baddour (“Baddour”). Deposition of Paul Bosse, (ROA p. 2378, lines 2-14). (Womble disputes that Charleston Labs was “passed off” from Rutley to Baddour).
- j. At the time, Baddour was an associate with Womble in its Raleigh, NC office. Baddour was first admitted to practice law in 2002.
- k. In or around April, 2008, Charleston Labs was approached by a venture capital firm known as Landmark Pegasus (“Landmark”). As a condition of any investment in Charleston Laboratories, Landmark recognized that Charleston Labs had no contract controlling the relationship between shareholders and provided Charleston Labs with a proposed Stockholder Agreement. See April 9, 2008, email from Landmark to Bosse, (ROA p. 3051).
- l. While no deal was made with Landmark, Bosse liked the idea of a Stockholder’s Agreement and forwarded the proposed agreement to Baddour for the purpose of

- adopting a similar agreement for Charleston Labs. See April 9, 2008, email from Bosse to Baddour, (ROA, p. 3066).
- m. Prior to Bosse raising the issue with Baddour Womble had never recommended to Charleston Labs that it adopt an agreement to regulate the relationship between its shareholders.
 - n. Having received no reply from Baddour, Bosse again emailed Baddour on May 20, 2008, inquiring about the status of a shareholder agreement. See May 20, 2008, email from Bosse to Baddour, (ROA p. 3081).
 - o. In response to Bosse's email, Baddour forwarded a proposed Stock Restriction Agreement ("SRA") (as opposed to a Shareholder's Agreement). See May 20, 2008, email from Baddour to Bosse, (ROA p. 3082).
 - p. Unlike the proposed Stockholder's Agreement ("SHA") that originated from Landmark, the SRA began as a Womble template document. Deposition of Baddour, (ROA p. 658, lines 14-24).
 - q. Rather than having one document to control the relationship between shareholders (SRA or SHA), Womble recommended that Charleston Labs have the new shareholders (T, Schachtel and Ameling) sign an SRA and that all shareholders sign a SHA. To that end, Womble made 150 changes to the SHA which was first drafted by Landmark. See May 22, 2008, Redline Report, (ROA p. 3088).
 - r. Both the SRA and the SHA defined the right of Charleston Labs to repurchase the shares of an owner upon their departure from employment with Charleston Labs. See the SHA, (ROA p. 3089) and the SRA, (ROA p. 3103).

- s. In the event of a separation from employment, the SHA provided Charleston Labs the right to repurchase **ALL SHARES** at the then prevailing fair value as determined by the Board of Directors.
- t. In the event of a separation from employment, the SRA provided Charleston Labs the right to repurchase **UNVESTED SHARES** at the price of \$0.001 per share based upon a vesting schedule.
- u. The SHA does not make reference to the SRA.
- v. The SRA does not make reference to the SHA.
- w. The SHA provides that it is the “entire agreement” between the parties on the “subject matter” and that it “supersedes and renders null and void all other prior oral or written agreements.” (ROA p. 3099, ¶5.9).
- x. The SRA provides that it is the “entire agreement” between the parties on the “subject matter” and that it “supersedes and renders null and void all other prior oral or written agreements.” (ROA p. 3105, ¶5).
- y. The SHA and SRA provide different and conflicting rights on the same subject matter.
- z. On May 30, 2008, Dr. T executed the SHA.
- aa. On May 30, 2008, Dr. T also executed the SRA.
- bb. On May 30, 2008, Charleston Labs issued Share Certificate Number 12 to Dr. T evidencing his ownership of 210 shares in Charleston Labs. Share Certificate Number 12, (ROA p. 3108).
- cc. On the back of Share Certificate Number 12 restrictive language makes reference to both the SHA and the SRA. (ROA p. 3109).

- dd. At or near the same time that Dr. T executed his SRA and SHA, shareholder Schachtel had engaged attorney Charles Kaufman (“Kaufman”) to review the documents. Kaufman was confused by the operation of the two documents and emailed questions to Rutley.
- ee. By email dated June 16, 2008, Rutley explained to Kaufman in part that: “The simple structure is that ALL vested shares are for the employee to KEEP and the unvested shares are paid over time for service in the vesting period. Thus, termination of the employment relationship for ANY reasons will result in the employee keeping ALL shares that are vested and just a stoppage of any further vesting.” Rutley email, June 16, 2008, (ROA p. 3110 through ROA p. 3111, ¶2 in red) and emphasis supplied.
- ff. **DISPUTED:** Rutley’s explanation is incorrect above in that it does not explain that the company retains the right to repurchase ALL shares under the SHA. **NOTE:** Plaintiff contends that this is direct evidence of Womble’s misunderstanding of the operation of the documents which later manifests itself at the time of the attempted repurchase of Dr. T’s ownership. This contention is disputed.
- gg. On September 25, 2008, Charleston Labs issued a forward stock split of 2,000:1, as a result of which Dr. T’s Share Certificate Number 12 for 210 shares was retired in exchange for Share Certificate Number 14 for 420,000 shares. Stock Split and Share Certificate Number 14, (ROA p. 3112).
- hh. After September 25, 2008, the relationship between Charleston Labs and Dr. T soured.

- ii. Dr. T was absent for approximately 10 months and had associated with a competitive company known as SIDIS. Furthermore, Charleston Labs feared that Dr. T had transferred or attempted to transfer his ownership in the company to SIDIS. Deposition of George Scott, (ROA p. 1139, line 18-p. 1143, line 6).
- jj. In or around March, 2010, Charleston Labs made the decision to separate with Dr. T.
- kk. On or about March 16, 2010, Bosse called Baddour to explain the situation and to ask for legal assistance in terminating Dr. T and reacquiring his ownership in the company.
- ll. Following the conversation, Baddour emailed Rutley, attaching only the SRA, and relayed the conversation. In part, Baddour reported: “They need to get rid of Ray T, their COO, but they want to take all of his stock back (vested and unvested).” See Email, Baddour to Rutley, March 16, 2010, (ROA p. 3120).
- mm. As of March 16, 2010, the only document which would have permitted the reacquisition of **ALL OF DR. T’s STOCK was the SHA**. Dr. T was partially vested under the SRA.
- nn. Charleston Labs sought Womble’s legal advice in drafting the letter terminating Dr. T’s employment. See Bosse Email to Baddour, March 17, 2010, (ROA p. 3126).
- oo. On March 17, 2010, Bosse drafted an initial rough draft of the termination letter which he shared with Baddour seeking legal advice with regard to the “Severance section as it relates to the stock” and on “other sections as you see fit.” (ROA p. 0546).

- pp. After receiving advice and modifications from legal counsel, Charleston Labs issued a termination letter to Dr. T on March 22, 2010. In part, the letter explained that Dr. T's shares were going to be repurchased for \$2.10, in what appears to be an attempted reference to the SRA. **NOTE:** Again, only the SHA would have permitted a repurchase of all shares at the time, as Dr. T was partially vested under the SRA. Termination Letter, (ROA p. 550).
- qq. Also, on March 25, 2010, Womble prepared for Charleston Labs a draft letter and a Redemption and Release Agreement for Charleston Labs to send to Dr. T in order to redeem his shares. (ROA p. 564).
- rr. The letter does not reference the SHA or the SRA.
- ss. The letter does reference the enclosed Redemption and Release Agreement.
- tt. The Redemption and Release Agreement references the SRA but does not reference the SHA.
- uu. On March 25, 2010, Baddour advised Bosse that "if Ray (Dr. T) doesn't agree to the package (and the contingent \$70k payment) it is likely that he'll have a claim on the vested portion of his stock." See Email from Baddour to Bosse, March 25, 2010, (ROA p. 3139).
- vv. **DISPUTED:** Charleston Labs points to the above email as further evidence that Womble did not understand or appreciate at the time that only the SHA permitted the repurchase of all shares at any time following separation and that through the correct exercise of rights under the SHA, Dr. T would have no legitimate claims whatsoever. **NOTE:** It is important to note that this email communication forms the Court's basis for finding that Charleston Labs knew or should have known that

Womble committed malpractice. This is true despite the fact that Womble never explained to its client why Dr. T may have a future claim, what Womble did or didn't do in order to create Dr. T's potential claim and/or that it was Womble's lack of precision and malpractice were the basis of the claim. Moreover, this single communication lies in contrast to several other communications in which Womble advised its client to ignore Dr. T and to carry on business as usual, all of which communicated that Dr. T's claim (if any) was frivolous.

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