THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY

Court of Common Pleas
Roger M. Young, Sr., Circuit Court Judge

Court of Appeals Case No. 2020-000232

Case No. 2017-CP-10-3768

RECEIVED
Sep 24 2020
SC Court of Appeals

Charleston Laboratories, Inc.....Appellant,

v.

Womble, Carlyle, Sandridge & Rice, LLP.....Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

Robert E. Stepp
Benjamin R. Gooding
Jasmine D. Smith
Robinson Gray Stepp & Laffitte, LLC
1310 Gadsden Street
Post Office Box 11449
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 929-1400

Attorneys for Respondent

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

In advancing the defense of the statute of limitations, however, Womble does not concede that Appellant ever stated any valid claim. As discussed later in this brief, Womble disagrees that the standard of care requires lawyers to draft documents in ways that prevent third parties from making unsupported claims about their interpretation. *See* Argument Section II, *infra*. No one can prevent a third party from bringing an unfounded lawsuit. However, assuming *arguendo* that there is such a claim, this action is barred by the statute of limitations because Appellant was aware of this possibility more than three years before bringing this action.

Moreover, Womble was not negligent in its representation, did not breach any duty, or cause any damage to Appellant. To the contrary, as the federal district court in the Florida Action found, Womble prepared unambiguous documents that worked exactly as they were intended to work. Appellant conceded—and indeed, forcefully argued—as much in the Florida Action and is bound by the decision of the district court, a decision that was entirely in Appellant’s favor. The

fact that Dr. T made spurious arguments unsupported by the facts and the law, and which the district court outright rejected, does not make Womble responsible for Appellant's costs in bringing that lawsuit.

This Court should also affirm for additional reasons,⁶ including that Appellant's claim is barred by collateral and judicial estoppel because Appellant cannot now allege or attempt to establish facts, relitigate issues, or assert positions that are contrary to the district court's findings. Those findings preclude any claim for legal malpractice as a matter of law.

I. The trial court correctly granted summary judgment to Womble because the action is barred by the statute of limitations.

The uncontested facts establish that in 2010, seven years prior to Appellant filing this case, Appellant was aware that it had suffered the alleged injury that it contends was proximately caused by Womble's alleged breach of the standard of care. Because Appellant did not file this legal malpractice lawsuit within three years, the action is barred by the statute of limitations.

In South Carolina, the statute of limitations for legal malpractice is three years. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530; *Stokes-Craven Holding Corp. v. Robinson*, 416 S.C. 517, 525, 787 S.E.2d 485, 489 (2016). The statute of limitations begins to run when "the person knew or by the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known that he had a cause of action." S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-

⁶ "[A] respondent . . . may raise on appeal any additional reasons the appellate court should affirm the lower court's ruling, regardless of whether those reasons have been presented to or relied on by the lower court." *Angus v. Burroughs & Chapin Co.*, 358 S.C. 498, 509 n.7, 596 S.E.2d 67, 73 n.7 (Ct. App. 2004) (quoting *I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mount Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 419, 526 S.E.2d 716, 723 (2000)). "The appellate court may review respondent's additional reasons and, if convinced it is proper and fair to do so, rely on them or any other reason appearing in the record to affirm the lower court's judgment." *I'On, L.L.C.*, 338 S.C. at 419, 526 S.E.2d at 723; *see also* Rule 220(c), SCACR ("The appellate court may affirm any ruling, order, or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the record."); Rule 207(b)(2), SCACR ("Respondent's brief may also contain argument asking the court to affirm for any ground appearing on the record as provided by Rule 220(c)").

535; *see also Dean v. Ruscon*, 321 S.C. 360, 363, 468 S.E.2d 645, 647 (1996). “The exercise of reasonable diligence means simply that an injured party must act with some promptness where the facts and circumstances of an injury would put a person of common knowledge and experience on notice that some claim against another party might exist.” *Gibson v. Bank of America, N.A.*, 383 S.C. 399, 406, 680 S.E.2d 778, 782 (Ct. App. 2009). “The statute of limitations begins to run from this point and not when advice of counsel is sought or a full-blown theory of recovery is developed.” *Id.*

A. Appellant knew on March 25, 2010, that Womble breached what Appellant alleges is the standard of care.

In this case, Appellant contends that Womble is liable because it failed to preclude Dr. T’s ability to claim to still own shares in Charleston Labs and that it was injured by the resulting uncertainty regarding Dr. T’s shares. Specifically, Appellant argues

- “Womble’s malpractice placed Charleston Labs in a precarious legal position requiring the institution of legal action to clarify rights that would have been made clear but for Womble’s malpractice.” (R. pp. 3527, 3004).
- “The legal uncertainty surrounding the ownership of the shares and the subsequent declaratory judgment action ARE the injuries suffered by Charleston Labs as a direct and proximate cause of Womble’s negligence.” (R. p. 3540; App. Br. p. 21 ¶ III).
- “Just as there was darkness before there was light, in the matter of Charleston Labs and its post-employment relationship with Dr. T, there was disharmony before there was harmony. In this case, harmony required judicial intervention” (R. p. 3546).
- “The ownership of Charleston Labs was evidenced by its stock Womble’s negligence in drafting the corporate control documents created a cloud on the ‘title’ to the stock A dispute between the parties ensued which was nothing more than a suit to quiet title to the contested shares.” (R. p. 3554; App. Br. p. 30).
- “Charleston Labs availed itself of the judicial process solely because the transfer of shares was contestable.” (R. p. 3555).
- “Charleston Labs . . . was lost in a sea of uncertainty and . . . was exposed to contingent liabilities following the botched Dr. T redemption” (R. p. 3560).

- “[T]he filing of the Florida declaration action itself was an act in mitigation of the damage that had been inflicted and was to be inflicted on Charleston Labs as a direct and proximate result of Womble’s conduct.” **(R. p. 3528)**.

But on March 25, 2010, David Baddour sent an email to Paul Bosse (the president, sole director, and majority shareholder of Charleston Labs) that expressly warned that Dr. T might make such a claim, and that the very uncertainty of which Appellant now complains would result:

As we’ve discussed, if [Dr. T] doesn’t agree to the package (and the contingent \$70k payment) it is likely that he’ll have a claim on the vested portion of his stock. If [Appellant] does nothing to change the status quo, it is likely that [Dr. T] will simply sit tight and do nothing, until such time as the stock becomes worth something, which is when he’ll file suit.

(R. p. 3139). At that point, Charleston Labs was aware that a) Dr. T could still claim to own his shares; b) Dr. T might file a lawsuit to assert that purported ownership; and c) there was therefore uncertainty regarding Dr. T’s shares. Any such uncertainty could only exist as a result of Womble’s work. Appellant consistently maintained that it relied entirely on Womble to prepare the agreements and to provide advice as to how to utilize the agreements to preclude Dr. T’s ability to contest the repurchase. **(R. pp. 16, 3003, 3013-14)**. Appellant also alleged that it was “placed here” because it gave Womble a “clear directive, we want [all the shares] back . . .” **(R. p. 3027)**. Finally, Appellant claims that it was required to file a declaratory judgment action “to resolve the dispute.” **(R. p. 19)**. All of this information was known to Appellant in March 2010. The statute of limitations began to run on that date.

“If, on the date of injury, a plaintiff knows or should know that he had some claim against someone else, the statute of limitations begins to run for all claims based upon that injury.” *Wiggins v. Edwards*, 314 S.C. 126, 128, 442 S.E.2d 169, 170 (1994) (internal citations omitted). The statute begins to run when a party should realize his injury may be attributable to some other party’s action. *Republic Contracting Corp. v. S.C. Dep’t of Highway & Pub. Transp.*, 332 S.C.

197, 209, 503 S.E.2d 761, 767 (1998). The date on which a plaintiff should have discovered the facts giving rise to a cause of action is an objective question. *Graham v. Welsh, Roberts & Amburn, LLP*, 404 S.C. 235, 239, 743 S.E.2d 860, 862 (Ct. App. 2013). Whether the particular plaintiff actually knew he had a claim is not the test. “Rather, courts must decide whether the circumstances of the case would put a person of common knowledge and experience on notice that some right of his has been invaded, or that some claim against another party might exist.” *Bayle v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp.*, 344 S.C. 115, 123, 542 S.E.2d 736, 740 (Ct. App. 2001).

In its brief, Appellant attempts to re-define its claim by focusing its argument on whether Baddour’s statements to Bosse were correct or incorrect and whether Baddour suggested Dr. T’s claim would be frivolous. (**App. Br. pp. 29-30**). However, the basis of Appellant’s legal malpractice suit against Womble is not that Dr. T had legitimate claims against Appellant—the Florida Action clearly determined that he did not. Instead, Appellant’s claim is simply that Dr. T *could* make such a claim because of Womble’s work. Likewise, the determination of when the statute of limitations began to run is not a function of whether Womble’s work and advice were correct or incorrect. The statute began to run when Appellant was aware that the injury it now claims—the uncertainty regarding the ownership of Dr. T’s shares—was attributable to Womble. Therefore, this Court should disregard Appellant’s argument that the statute of limitations did not begin to run because Womble suggested that Dr. T’s claim would be frivolous. (**App. Br. p. 30**). Dr. T’s claims were indeed frivolous, but that has not stopped Appellant from trying to make Womble responsible for the cost to resolve the uncertainty.

Even if the alleged breach was not clear to Appellant in March 2010 when Baddour told Bosse that Dr. T may make a claim, it should have been clear at the latest on May 18, 2010, when Baddour notified Bosse that Dr. T actually claimed to own 4.25% of Appellant. (**R. pp. 3642**,

3646). Moreover, in the same email, Dr. T also threatened to sue Appellant regarding the shares, stating

“[Dr. T] realizes that the Company could stir the pot with the threat of a lawsuit, or the filing of one, and that’s a cost and distraction he doesn’t want. *But similarly, he could do the same vis-a-vis the Company and can’t imagine the Company would want that cost or distraction either, especially while raising money.*”

(R. p. 3642) (emphasis added).

So, if Appellant’s direction to Womble was to get all of Dr. T’s shares back and make sure Dr. T did not have a claim to the shares, Appellant was on notice that its “rights” had been invaded and that it therefore had a claim against Womble as soon as Appellant subsequently became aware that there was a question as to whether it had repurchased all the shares and that Dr. T was claiming to still own them. At that point, Appellant was inarguably aware of circumstances that “would put a person of common knowledge and experience on notice that some right of his has been invaded, or that some claim against another party might exist.” *Bayle*, 344 S.C. at 123, 542 S.E.2d at 740; *see also Christensen v. Mikell*, 324 S.C. 70, 73, 476 S.E.2d 692, 694 (1996) (affirming summary judgment in a legal malpractice action, finding the statute of limitations barred the action because the client was on inquiry notice that he may have a potential claim against the attorney several years before bringing the action). Appellant’s failure to file suit within three years of 2010 bars any claims based upon those facts.⁷

⁷ Although Appellant repeatedly references Womble’s suggestion to wait before suing Dr. T, Appellant never made any tolling or equitable estoppel arguments to the trial court; therefore, any argument now is untimely and was not preserved. *Wilder Corp.*, 330 S.C. at 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733. Moreover, Womble’s advice to Appellant to wait before pursuing a claim against Dr. T does not toll the statute of limitations or create any type of estoppel. Womble did not advise Appellant not to sue Womble or attempt to dissuade Appellant in any way from taking any action for the alleged breach of duty.

B. Appellant was aware in 2010 that it had suffered an actual injury resulting from what it considered to be Womble’s breach of the standard of care.

1. Appellant’s arguments attempting to distinguish “actual injury” and “speculative harm” are not preserved for review and are inconsistent with established South Carolina law.

“It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial [court] to be preserved for appellate review.” *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998). Under our preservation rules, a “losing party must first try to convince the lower court it has ruled wrongly and then, if that effort fails, convince the appellate court that the lower court erred.” *I’On, LLC v. Town of Mount Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). “This principle underlies the long-established preservation requirement that the losing party generally must both present his issues and arguments to the lower court and obtain a ruling before an appellate court will review those issues and arguments.” *Id.*

If “an issue has not been ruled upon by the trial [court] nor raised in a post-trial motion, such issue may not be considered on appeal.” *Caldwell v. Wiquist*, 402 S.C. 565, 576, 741 S.E.2d 583, 589 (Ct. App. 2013) (quoting *Pelican Bldg. Ctrs. of Horry-Georgetown, Inc. v. Dutton*, 311 S.C. 56, 60, 427 S.E.2d 673, 675 (1993)). “Although a Rule 59(e)[, SCRCP,] motion may effectively seek a reconsideration of issues and arguments, this type of motion is often required for issue preservation purposes.” *Home Med. Sys., Inc. v. S.C. Dep’t of Revenue*, 382 S.C. 556, 562, 677 S.E.2d 582, 586 (2009). Indeed, our supreme court has long recognized that “[a]n appellate court may not . . . reverse for any reason appearing in the record.” *I’On, LLC*, 338 S.C. at 421-22, 526 S.E.2d at 724. “Put simply, Rule 59(e) motions serve a vital purpose for proper issue preservation.” *Home Med. Sys., Inc.*, 382 S.C. at 562, 677 S.E.2d at 586. Thus, when a “losing party has raised an issue in the lower court, but the court fails to rule upon it, the party

must file a motion to alter or amend the judgment . . . to preserve the issue for appellate review.” *I’On, LLC*, 338 S.C. at 422, 526 S.E.2d at 724 (emphasis added). “Without an initial ruling by the [trial] court, a reviewing court simply would not be able to evaluate whether the [trial] court committed error.” *S.C. Dep’t of Transp. v. M&T Enters. of Mount Pleasant, LLC*, 379 S.C. 645, 658-59, 667 S.E.2d 7, 15 (Ct. App. 2008).

Here, Appellant spends a significant portion of its argument section attempting to distinguish “actual injury” from “speculative harm” based on California law. (**App. Br. pp. 33-35**). Appellant never presented this argument in any of its briefing related to summary judgment. (**R. pp. 3527-63, 3580-3615**). Further, the order granting summary judgment does not include *any* discussion or conclusions regarding “actual injury” versus “speculative harm.” (**R. pp. 6-9**). Thus, this argument was never presented to or ruled upon by the trial court, and Appellant did not file a motion for reconsideration. Instead, Appellant sent the trial court a letter chastising the court for granting summary judgment on the eve of trial and stating Appellant’s intent to seek appellate review unless “an additional hearing with oral argument could provide a different result.” (**R. pp. 3696-97**). Because Appellant failed to bring this issue to the trial court’s attention, it has waived the right to raise it for the first time on appeal. Accordingly, the Court should decline to address Appellant’s argument concerning when Appellant incurred an “actual injury.” *I’On, LLC*, 338 S.C. at 422, 526 S.E.2d at 724.

Even if the argument were preserved, Appellant’s reliance on California law in *Jordache Enterprises, Inc. v. Brobeck, Phleger & Harrison*, 18 Cal. 4th 739, 958 P.2d 1062 (1998), is misplaced.⁸ The law relating to the statute of limitations in South Carolina is well settled, leaving

⁸ In fact, the holding in *Jordache* supports the finding that Appellant’s claim is barred by the statute of limitations. The Court in *Jordache* concluded that “the particular facts of each case must be examined in light of the wrongful act or omission the plaintiff alleges against the attorney” when

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